#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JASON RICHARD LOFTHOUSE, Appellant,	)	NO.	Electronically Filed 70587Oct 11 2017 11:53 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
VS.	)		
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	)		
Respondent.	)		
	_J		

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY D.A. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

Attorney for Appellant

ADAM LAXALT Attorney General 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701 (775) 684-1265

Counsel for Respondent

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. Lofthouse Did Not Commit Kidnapping as a Matter of Law.
- II. Lofthouse's prosecution under NRS 201.540 preemptedhis prosecution under NRS 200.310(1).
- III. The District Court's Instructional Errors Deprived Lofthouse of His Constitutional Right to a Fair Trial.
- IV. Lofthouse's General Verdict Violated His Federal and State Due Process Rights.
- V. Lofthouse's Redundant Convictions Violated his

  Constitutional Right Against Double Jeopardy.
- VI. The District Court's Refusal to Answer a Jury Question Violated Lofthouse's Constitutional Right to a Fair Trial.
- VII. Prosecutorial Misconduct Violated Lofthouse's Constitutional Right to a Fair Trial.

- VIII. The District Court Violated Lofthouse's Constitutional Right to Confront his Accuser.
- IX. The State's Witness Improperly Opined Regarding

  Lofthouse's Guilt.
- X. The District Court Violated Lofthouse's Nevada Constitutional Right Against Double Jeopardy by Increasing Lofthouse's Maximum Sentence.
- XI. Cumulative Error Warrants Reversal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed a criminal complaint on June 9, 2015 charging Lofthouse with one count of Sexual Conduct between Certain Employees or Volunteers of School and Pupil<sup>1</sup> and one count of First-Degree Kidnapping.<sup>2</sup> AA I 1-2. The complaint alleged Lofthouse, a history teacher at Rancho High School, engaged in sexual conduct with his student M.T. <u>Id</u>.

Police arrested Lofthouse on June 4, 2015. <u>Id</u>. at 3. The court arraigned Lofthouse on June 9, 2015 and scheduled a preliminary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> NRS 201.540.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> NRS 200.310.

hearing for June 23, 2015.<sup>3</sup> <u>Id</u>. at 5. On June 23rd the court continued the preliminary hearing to July 9, 2015 at the State's request. <u>Id</u>. at 6.

Prior to the preliminary hearing the State filed an amended complaint adding 10 additional Sexual Conduct between School Employee and Pupil counts, two Open and Gross Lewdness counts<sup>4</sup>; and an additional First-Degree Kidnapping count. <u>Id.</u> at 9-13. The State presented one witness at the hearing. <u>Id.</u> at 7. At the hearing's conclusion the State voluntarily dismissed one Sexual Conduct between Certain Employees or Volunteers of School and Pupil count. <u>Id.</u> at 8. Lofthouse requested the court dismiss the remaining counts. <u>Id.</u> at 8. Lofthouse requested the court dismiss the remaining counts. <u>Id.</u> The court denied Lofthouse's request and held him to answer in the district court. Id.

The State filed the Information and an Amended Information in the district court on July 16, 2015. 5 Id. at 15, 21. At his arraignment Lofthouse pleaded not guilty and waived his right to a speedy trial. AA II 419. The arraignment court scheduled calendar call for October 27, 2015 and jury trial for November 2, 2015. Id. at 420.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Attorneys Robert Draskovich and Louis Schneider represented Lofthouse in the Justice Court. AA I 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> NRS 201.210.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> It is unclear how the Amended Information differed from the Information.

Lofthouse filed a pretrial Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on August 20, 2015 challenging the justice court's probable cause determination on the Kidnapping and the Open and Gross Lewdness counts. AA I 124-142. The State filed a Return and Lofthouse filed a Traverse. Id. at 151, 173. On September 22, 2015, Lofthouse substituted attorneys Jason Margolis and Dmitry Gurovich in place of his previously retained counsel.<sup>6</sup> The court continued argument on Lofthouse's Petition to November 10, 2015, and reset jury trial to January 25, 2016. AA II 425-26, 441. Later, the parties agreed to continue the trial to March 21, 2016. Id. at 495. Eventually the court granted Lofthouse's petition in part by dismissing the open and gross lewdness counts. Id. at 477-78; 496. The State filed a Second Amended Information reflecting the court's decision. AA I 213.

Trial began on March 21, 2016 and concluded on March 25th.

See AA III 508; AA VI 1408. The jury convicted Lofthouse of all charges. AA II 265-68. At Lofthouse's sentencing hearing the Court ordered certain counts to run concurrent and others to run consecutive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Gurovich is not a licensed Nevada attorney. However, the district court approved Gurovich's application for limited practice. <u>See AA I 200-01</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The court eventually continued the Petition one more time to December 2, 2015. AA II 452.

but essentially imposed a total sentence of 72 to 180 months in prison.

AA VI 1445-49. The Court filed the Judgment of Conviction ("JOC")

on May 20, 2016. AA II 380.

On May 26, 2016 Lofthouse's attorneys moved to withdraw. AA II 383. The district court granted the request on June 9, 2016 and appointed the Clark County Public Defender to represent Lofthouse. Id. at 391-92. That same day Lofthouse filed a proper person Notice of Appeal. Id. at 389-90. On July 13, 2017, upon limited remand from this Court, the district court modified Lofthouse's sentence to remove lifetime supervision but also increased Lofthouse's maximum sentence to 228 months. AA VII 1588.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Lofthouse was a respected U.S. history teacher at Rancho High School in Las Vegas, Nevada. AA VI 1247. In January 2015, Lofthouse took family leave after the birth of his third child. <u>Id.</u> During leave Lofthouse communicated with his students, including M.T., via social media. AA V 1019. Initially, these communications involved innocuous school-related issues. <u>Id.</u> at 1021. Eventually M.T. and Lofthouse began flirting via text-messages. <u>Id.</u> at 1023-24.

In early May 2015, Lofthouse returned from family leave. <u>Id.</u> at 1026. Shortly after Lofthouse returned from family leave M.T. performed fellatio on Lofthouse in his classroom. <u>Id.</u> at 1028, 1030. After this incident M.T. and Lofthouse agreed to spend a day together at a hotel. <u>Id.</u> at 1031.

Lofthouse rented a room at the Aliante Hotel and Casino. <u>Id.</u> at 1037. On May 20, 2015, he met M.T. near her house and drove her to the hotel. <u>Id.</u> at 1035. At the hotel M.T. and Lofthouse engaged in consensual sexual intercourse two times. <u>Id.</u> at 1038-39. M.T. and Lofthouse also performed oral sex on each other. <u>Id.</u> Lofthouse and M.T. left the Aliante around 2:00 p.m. and Lofthouse immediately returned M.T. to her house. <u>Id.</u> at 1042.

A few days later M.T. again performed fellatio on Lofthouse in his classroom. <sup>12</sup> <u>Id</u>. at 1044. Thereafter, M.T. and Lofthouse again decided to spend a day together at a hotel. <u>Id</u>. On May 28, 2015 Lofthouse met M.T. near her parent's house and drove her to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Count 1 of the Second Amended Information. AA I 214.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Count 2. <u>Id</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Counts 5, 6. <u>Id</u>. at 215.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Counts 3, 4. <u>Id</u>. at 214-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Count 7. Id. at 215.

Cannery Hotel and Casino.<sup>13</sup> <u>Id</u>. at 1049. At the hotel M.T. and Lofthouse performed oral sex on each other.<sup>14</sup> <u>Id</u>. at 1051. M.T. and Lofthouse also engaged in consensual sexual intercourse twice.<sup>15</sup> <u>Id</u>. Lofthouse and M.T. left the hotel at 2:00 p.m. and Lofthouse took M.T. directly to her house. <u>Id</u>. at 1053.

On June 1, 2015, former student Maria Aleman ("Aleman") advised Rancho teacher Belisa Brownlee ("Brownlee") that a Rancho student and teacher were involved in a sexual relationship. AA IV 933-34. Brownlee learned M.T. was the suspected student and relayed this information to Rancho assistant principal Gwen LaFond ("LaFond"). Id. at 928-29. LaFond notified the Clark County School District Police ("CCSDP"). AA IV 903. CCSDP Officer Patty ("Patty") investigated the allegations. Id.

On June 3, 2015, Patty located M.T. and Lofthouse in Lofthouse's classroom. <u>Id.</u> at 909. Patty escorted M.T. to an administrative office to meet with CCSDP Detective Troxell ("Troxell"). <u>Id.</u> at 911. Troxell questioned M.T. regarding her

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Count 8. <u>Id</u>. at 216.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Counts 9, 10. <u>Id</u>. at 216.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Counts 11, 12. <u>Id</u>. at 217.

alleged sexual relationship with Lofthouse. AA VI 1261. M.T. denied the allegations. <u>Id</u>.

Later that day M.T. told her parents she had engaged in sexual conduct with Lofthouse. AA V 1057. M.T.'s father contacted Troxell who re-interviewed M.T. <u>Id</u>. M.T. admitted to Troxell that she had a consensual sexual relationship with Lofthouse. <u>Id</u>. at 1058. However, M.T. advised Lofthouse never forced her to do anything she did not want to do. <u>Id</u>. at 1058. Additionally, Lofthouse never imprisoned her or attempted to keep her from her parents. <u>Id</u>. at 1125-27. Troxell searched M.T.'s phone and secured video surveillance from the Cannery but not the Aliante. AA VI 1267, 1277. The next day Troxell arrested Lofthouse at Rancho. Id. at 1269-70.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Jason Lofthouse is currently serving six (6) to nineteen (19) years in prison for having consensual sexual relations with his 17 year-old student. To secure this harsh sentence the State charged Lofthouse with First-Degree Kidnapping. However, as a matter of law Lofthouse could not be charged with or convicted of kidnapping. Alternately, if Lofthouse could be charged with and convicted of kidnapping then Nevada's kidnapping law, NRS 200.310(1), is unconstitutionally

vague. If NRS 200.310(1) is not unconstitutionally vague, Lofthouse's prosecution under NRS 201.540 preempted his prosecution under NRS 200.310(1). If Lofthouse's prosecution under NRS 201.540 did not preempt his prosecution under NRS 200.310(1), then the jury nevertheless convicted Lofthouse upon insufficient evidence or an invalid theory of liability. Finally, Lofthouse's multiple convictions for engaging in individual sexual acts with M.T. violated his Constitutional right against double jeopardy.

Additionally, the district court committed numerous trial errors which denied Lofthouse his Constitutional Right to a fair trial. First, the district court incorrectly instructed the jury and refused Lofthouse's proffered instruction which correctly stated the law and comprised Lofthouse's theory of defense. Next, the court violated Lofthouse's fundamental right to confront his accuser. Finally, the court violated the prohibition against double jeopardy by increasing Lofthouse's sentence after his conviction.

The State violated Lofthouse's right to a fair trial as well. The State engaged in pervasive misconduct during *voir dire*, opening statement, and rebuttal argument. Additionally, the State obstructed Lofthouse's access to witnesses, urged a law enforcement witness to

opine on Lofthouse's guilt, and incorrectly defined of an essential element during rebuttal argument. During deliberation the jury sought clarification on the State's definition however the district court refused to clarify the jury's confusion. Although the aforementioned errors individually warrant reversal, if this Court disagrees, the errors' cumulative effect violated Lofthouse right to a fair trial and warrant reversal.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. <u>Lofthouse Did Not Commit Kidnapping as a Matter of Law.</u>

The United States Constitution's Due Process clause "protects an accused against conviction except on proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged." Carl v. State, 100 Nev. 164, 165, 678 P.2d 669 (1984). On appeal, where the evidence is uncontroverted, this Court "may decide whether such uncontroverted evidence, as a matter of law, does or does not show the commission of a crime." State v. Busscher, 81 Nev. 587, 589, 407 P.2d 715, 716 (1965).

The undisputed facts show Lofthouse and his 17 year-old student, M.T., began a sexual relationship in May 2015. AA V 1017, 1033, 1125-28. On two occasions Lofthouse drove M.T. to hotels to

engage in consensual sexual conduct. <u>Id</u>. at 1036-38, 1049-51. After each hotel visit Lofthouse immediately returned M.T. to her house. <u>Id</u>. at 1042, 1053. According to M.T. Lofthouse never imprisoned her, detained her, or forced her to do anything she did not want to do. <u>Id</u>. at 1125. Additionally, M.T. would have engaged in sexual conduct with Lofthouse had he not been her teacher. <u>Id</u>.

Based upon the above facts the State charged Lofthouse with First-Degree Kidnapping alleging he either led, took, enticed, or carried away, M.T. with the intent to: (1) keep, imprison, or confine her from her parents; (2) hold her to unlawful service; or (3) perpetuate upon her person the unlawful act of Sexual Conduct between School Employee and Pupil (NRS 201.540). See AA II 22, 24; NRS 200.310(1). However, during trial the State abandoned theories (1) and (2) and proceeded only under theory (3). AA VI 1321, 1346.

First-Degree Kidnapping under NRS 200.310(1) prohibits leading, taking, enticing, carrying away, or detaining a minor, "with the intent to...perpetrate **upon the person** of the minor any unlawful act[.]" (Emphasis added). Here, Lofthouse did not commit a crime for merely for driving 17 year-old M.T. to a hotel for the purposes of

having sex. M.T. was 17 years-old and could legally consent to sexual relations with a 32 year-old man. See NRS 200.364(6). Lofthouse's actions only became "criminal" based upon his status as M.T.'s teacher. See NRS 201.540. Therefore, by engaging in sexual conduct with M.T. Lofthouse violated NRS 201.540, which prohibits sexual conduct between a teacher and a student. However, Lofthouse did not "kidnap" M.T. because he could not perpetuate, upon M.T.'s person, an unlawful act.

Resolving Lofthouse's claim that he did not commit kidnapping as a matter of law involves a question of statutory interpretation. Specifically, whether NRS 200.310(1)'s phrase, "perpetuate upon the person of the minor any unlawful act" prohibits someone from intending to commit any crime whatsoever upon a minor or only prohibits intending to commit a "crime against the person" upon a minor. This Court reviews questions regarding statutory interpretation *de novo*. State v. Lucero, 127 Nev. 92, 95, 249 P.3d 1226, 1228 (2011).

"[W]hen the words in a statute are clear on their face, they should be given their plain meaning unless such a reading violates the spirit of the act." Anthony Lee R., A Minor v. State, 113 Nev. 1406,

1414, 952 P.2d 1, 6 (1997). When statutory language is susceptible to two reasonable interpretations this Court looks beyond the words to determine legislative intent. State v. White, 130 Nev. \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_, 330 P.3d 482, 484 (2014). Statutory language should always be construed to avoid absurd or unreasonable results. Id.; see also Haney v. State, 124 Nev. 408, 412, 185 P.3d 350, 353 (2008) ("the rule of lenity demands that ambiguities in criminal statutes be liberally interpreted in favor of the accused.").

#### A. NRS 200.310(1)'s plain language.

NRS 200.310(1) *plainly* prohibits moving or detaining a minor while intending to commit a "crime against the person" upon a minor. Only "crimes against the person" can be perpetuated "upon the person." Morality crimes, crimes against the state, and crimes against property cannot be committed "upon" a person.

Sexual Conduct between Certain Employees of School or Volunteers at School and Pupil (NRS 201.540) is not a crime against the person. Rather, it is a "crime against public decency and good morals." See Title 15, Chapter 201. As noted, crimes against good morals and public decency do not have individual victims and therefore cannot be committed "upon" a person. See Susan W.

Brenner, <u>Fantasy Crime: The Role of Criminal Law in Virtual Worlds</u>, 11 Van. J. Ent. & Tech. L. 1, 8-9 (2008). Similarly, status offenses cannot be committed "upon a person."

Lofthouse's acts were only criminal based upon his status as M.T.'s teacher. Therefore, under NRS 200.310(1)'s plain meaning Lofthouse could not commit kidnapping as a matter of law because his crime -- Sexual Conduct between Teacher and Student -- could not be committed "upon" M.T.'s person.

#### B. NRS 200.310(1)'s legislative intent.

If this Court believes NRS 200.310(1)'s language is ambiguous regarding whether the law applies only to "crimes against the person" or to any crime whatsoever, this Court can look to legislative history and common law for guidance.

Before 1947 Nevada's kidnapping statute stated pertinently:

Every person who shall willfully

... lead, take, entice away, or detain, a child under the age of sixteen years with intent to conceal him from his parent, guardian or other person having lawful care or control of him, or to steal any article upon his person

Shall be guilty of kidnaping[.]

Revised Laws of Nevada § 6419 (sec. 154) (p. 1839) (1912) (emphasis added).

In 1947 the legislature amended the statute to read:

... every person who leads, takes, entices, or carries away or detains any minor with the intent to keep, imprison, or confine it from its parents, guardians, or any other person having lawful custody of such minor, or with the intent to hold such minor to unlawful service, or perpetuate upon the person of such minor any unlawful act, shall be deemed guilty of kidnapping in the first degree. 16 Statutes of Nevada, S.B. 99 (1947) (emphasis added).

Unfortunately, the Legislature did not compile legislative history prior to 1965.<sup>17</sup> Therefore, there is no legislative record available to determine the legislative intent behind kidnapping's 1947 amendment. Nevertheless, this Court can consider kidnapping's common law origins and extra-jurisdictional precedent interpreting kidnapping statutes similar to Nevada's pre-1947 version.

At common law kidnapping was an aggravated form of false imprisonment. See Brown v. State, 574 S.W.2d 57, 60 (Tenn. 1978)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The legislature also amended NRS 200.310 in 1959, 1979, 1987, and 1995. However, those amendments did not materially alter the pertinent section of NRS 200.310.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>See, <a href="https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/Library/LegHistory/Tutorial/Pre1965.cfm">https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/Library/LegHistory/Tutorial/Pre1965.cfm</a>, last accessed June 20, 2017.

(citing Wharton's Law of Criminal Procedure, Vol. I, p. 735). Basically, "kidnapping was limited to the taking of a person from his own country." A Rationale of the Law of Kidnapping, 53 Colum. L. Rev. 540, 540-41 (1953). Eventually kidnapping laws evolved to merely require asportation or detention rather than removal from the person's country. Id. at 541.

Child stealing, which "consisted of taking an unmarried female under the age of sixteen years from her parents," was not a common law offense. <u>Id.</u> at 550-51. England's Parliament codified child stealing which was considered a crime against the parent, not the minor. <u>Id.</u>; see also People v. Simmons, 12 Cal.App.2d 329, 332, 55 P.2d 297, 299 (1936); <u>State v. Metcalf</u>, 129 OR. 577, 578, 278 P. 974, 975 (1929).

States eventually began combining common law kidnapping and child stealing into a single criminal offense. In 1983 Idaho analyzed its kidnapping law which was similar to Nevada's pre-1947 law. Idaho's kidnapping law stated:

[K]idnapping is committed by a person who willfully:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Because child stealing was a crime against the parents, a child of "tender years" could not consent to its own seizure or abduction. <u>See</u> State v. Hoyle, 114 Wash. 290, 291, 194 P. 976 (1921).

- 1. Seizes, confines, inveigles or kidnaps another, with intent to cause him, without authority of law, to be secretly confined or imprisoned within this state, or to be sent out of this state, or in any way held to service or kept or detained against his will; or,
- 2. Leads, takes, entices away or detains a child under the age of sixteen (16) years, with intent to keep or conceal it from its parent, guardian or other person having lawful care or control thereof, or with intent to steal any article upon the person of the child.<sup>19</sup>

State v. Palin, 106 Idaho 70, 72, 675 P.2d 49, 51 (1983).

According to Idaho, subsection 1 defined "simple kidnapping," and subsection 2 defined "child stealing." Id. at 73, 675 P.2d at 52. Subsection 2's phrase, "with the intent to steal any article upon the person of the child" meant the accused intended "to rob from the child." Id.; see also State v. Berry, 200 Wash. 495, 509, 93 P.2d 782, 789 (1939); People v. Pellot, 105 A.D.2d 223, 227, 483 N.Y.S.2d 409, 412 (1984); Commonwealth v. Meyers, 146 Pa. 24, 29, 23 A. 164 (1892); Burns v. Commonwealth, 129 Pa. 138, 145, 18 A. 756, 757 (1889) (noting similar language "was enacted to protect parental and other lawful custody of children against the greed and malice of the kidnapper.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> I.C. § 18-4501.

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