IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JASON RICHARD LOFTHOUSE,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Feb 06 2018 02:14 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 70587

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgement of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

WILLIAM M. WATERS Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #009456 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Prosecution for the State was explaining to the jury during rebuttal argument how Appellant's inappropriate communication with his student is what enticed her to engage in the sexual relationship with Appellant. AA Vol. VI 1347. Specifically, the prosecutor was explaining what enticement was in a practical context and gave examples of what kind of conduct could potentially be enticement. <u>Id</u>. However, nowhere in the prosecution's rebuttal argument did she say Appellant's conduct was comparable to using a van to lure away children, rather she explained that NRS 200.310(1) prevents enticing children, which would include taking children in a van with promises of candy and also Appellant's conduct. As a result, the comment cannot be said to have been inflammatory toward Appellant, and his claim must be denied.

3. The Prosecution Did Not Argue An Uninstructed Legal Theory

Appellant claims that during rebuttal arguments the prosecution argued an uninstructed legal theory when she defined enticement to the jury. Appellant's claim is without merit and should be denied.

38

The prosecutor for the State defined enticement after Appellant's counsel suggested that in order to entice his victim away he would have had to have had dominion over her. AA Vol. VI 1333, 1347. The prosecution did not change their legal theory, or argue a theory that had not been placed in the instructions, rather she defined a word, which carries its plain meaning as it's used in NRS 201.540. <u>Id</u>. The prosecutor only defined entice after Appellant's counsel stated that in order to be in violation of the statute Appellant would have to have had "control or dominion over" his victim. <u>Id</u>. at 1333. Additionally, as Appellant has pointed out in his Opening Brief the district court did not provide an instruction for the word "entice." AOB 68. As such, by defining a word that carries its plain meaning in a statute with the plain meaning of the word there cannot be said to have been error.

Additionally, the district court judge cured any potential error that could have been caused by the prosecution when the court responded to the jury question regarding the meaning of the word "entice." (see argument Section VI)

E. There Was No Plain Error In This Case

Appellant claims that all of the allegations of prosecutorial misconduct listed <u>supra</u> constitute plain error. As discussed <u>supra</u>, none of the instances Appellant has brought to this Court's attention were in error.

As an initial matter, Appellant did not object to what he now refers to as "blatant misconduct" from the State. AOB 71. That being the case, this issued is reviewable only for plain error. <u>See Gallego v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 348, 365, 23 P.3d 227, 239 (2001) ("Failure to object during trial generally precludes appellate consideration of an issue. Despite such failure, this court has the discretion to address an error if it was plain and affected the defendant's substantial rights."). In conducting plain error review, this Court must examine (1) whether there was "error," (2) whether the error was "plain" or clear, and (3) whether the error affected the defendant's substantial rights. <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003).

As discussed <u>supra</u>, none of the instances Appellant has brought to this Court's attention were in error. As such Appellant's claim fails, however, assuming <u>arguendo</u> this Court disagrees Appellant's claim would still fail plain error review because his rights were not affected. In this case, Appellant admitted to violating NRS 201.540, and he admitted that he fulfilled all of the requirements of NRS 200.310(1), only arguing over semantics because his 17 year-old victim was engaging in a "consensual" relationship with her high school teacher. AOB at 58. As such, since Appellant freely admitted all of the facts necessary to sustain his conviction it cannot be said that his rights were affected and his claim must be denied.

///

///

VIII. APPELLANT'S CONFRONTATION CLAUSE RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED

The district court "retains wide discretion to limit cross-examination based on considerations such as harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, and relevancy." <u>Kaczmarek</u>, 120 Nev. at 335, 91 P.3d at 31. In <u>Delaware v. Van Arsdall</u>, the U.S. Supreme Court indicated that while the trial court must not curtail a defendant's ability to cross-examine a witness, the right is not without limits. 475 U.S. 673, 679, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 1435 (1986). The U.S. Supreme Court recognized that the Constitution does not guarantee perfection or even close to it; "as we have stressed on more than one occasion, the Constitution entitles a criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one." Id.

This Court "generally review[s] a district court's evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion. ... However, whether a defendant's Confrontation Clause rights were violated is ultimately a question of law that must be reviewed de novo." <u>Chavez v. State</u>, 125 Nev. 328, 339, 213 P.3d 476, 484 (2009) (citations and quotation marks omitted). Where the issue is the scope of cross-examination this Court shows great deference to the decision of a trial judge:

We recognize that the district court has less discretion to curtail cross-examination where potential bias is at issue. <u>See Jackson v. State</u>, 104 Nev. 409, 412, 760 P.2d 131, 133 (1988); <u>Bushnell v. State</u>, 95 Nev. 570, 572, 599 P.2d 1038, 1040 (1979). Nevertheless, and

consistent with the Confrontation Clause, trial judges "retain wide latitude" to restrict cross-examination to explore potential bias "based on concerns about, among other things, harassment, prejudice, confusion of the issues, the witness' safety, or interrogation that is repetitive or only marginally relevant." <u>Delaware v. Van Arsdall</u>, 475 U.S. 673, 679, 89 L. Ed. 2d 674, 106 S. Ct. 1431 (1986); <u>see also Davis</u> <u>v. Alaska</u>, 415 U.S. 308, 316, 320, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347, 94 S. Ct. 1105 (1974); <u>Bushnell</u>, 95 Nev. at 573, 599 P.2d at 1040 (recognizing that an inquiry into a witness's possible bias or motive to testify may be restricted when the inquiry was "repetitive, irrelevant, vague, speculative, or designed merely to harass, annoy or humiliate the witness").

Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 72, 17 P.3d 397, 409 (2001). Accord, <u>Baltarzar-Monterrosa v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 606, 619, 137 P.3d 1137, 1146 (2006) (impeachment for bias may be restricted to avoid "those inquiries which are repetitive, irrelevant, vague, speculative, or designed merely to harass, annoy or humiliate the witness").

This Court reviews a district court's decision to exclude evidence for an abuse of discretion. <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 639, 646, 188 P.3d 1126, 1131 (2008); <u>McLellan v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 263, 267, 182 P.3d 106, 109 (2008).

The district court prevented certain questions under the "Rape Shield" law, NRS 50.090. NRS 50.090 provides that--

In any prosecution for sexual assault or statutory sexual seduction or for attempt to commit or conspiracy to commit either crime, the accused may not present evidence of any previous sexual conduct of the victim of the crime to challenge the victim's credibility as a witness unless the prosecutor has presented evidence or the victim has testified concerning such conduct, or the absence of such conduct, in which case the scope of the accused's cross-examination of the victim or rebuttal must be limited to the evidence presented by the prosecutor or victim.

This Court has delineated two exceptions to this general rule. In <u>Miller v.</u> <u>State</u>, 105 Nev. 497, 501, 779 P.2d 87, 89 (1989), this Court held that in a sexual assault case, NRS 50.090 does not bar the cross-examination of a complaining witness about prior *false* accusations. (emphasis added) Further, in <u>Summit v. State</u>, 101 Nev. 159, 163-64, 697 P.2d 1374, 1377 (1985), this Court held that prior sexual experiences of a child victim may be admissible to demonstrate that the child's prior sexual experiences could explain the source of the child's knowledge of the charged sexual activity and, in turn, demonstrate the child's ability to contrive a charge against the defendant. Prior to admitting such evidence, however, "the trial court must undertake to balance the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect." <u>See NRS 48.035(1).</u> "[T]he inquiry should particularly focus upon 'potential prejudice to the truthfinding process itself,' i.e., 'whether the introduction of the victim's past sexual conduct may confuse the issues, mislead the jury, or cause the jury to decide the case on an improper or emotional basis.'" Id. at 163, 697 P.2d at 1377 (citation omitted).

"The trial court has sound discretion to admit or exclude evidence of a victim's prior false allegations or prior sexual experiences." <u>Abbott v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 715, 732, 138 P.3d 462, 473 (2006). "In the exercise of its sound discretion, the trial court should be mindful of the important policy considerations underlying the rape-shield statute, and accordingly should limit the admission of evidence of specific instances of the complainant's sexual conduct . . . without unduly infringing upon the defendant's constitutional right to confrontation." <u>Summit</u>, 101 Nev. at 164, 697 P.2d at 1377.

"Such [rape shield] laws have generally been designed to reverse the common law rule applicable in rape cases, that use of evidence of a female complainant's general reputation for morality and chastity was admissible to infer consent and also to attack credibility generally. Thus, for example, it had been held: "It is a matter of common knowledge that the bad character of a man for chastity does not even in the remotest degree affect his character for truth, when based upon that alone, while it does that of a woman." Such statutes as Nevada's have been described as "directed at the misuse of prior sexual conduct evidence based on this antiquated and obviously illogical premise." An additional purpose of such statutes is "to protect rape victims from degrading and embarrassing disclosure of intimate details about their private lives." Finally, "[t]he restrictions placed on the admissibility of certain evidence by the rape-shield laws will, it was hoped, encourage rape victims to come forward and report the crimes and testify in court protected from unnecessary indignities and needless probing into their respective sexual histories.""

Lane v. Second Judicial Dist. Court, 104 Nev. 427, 443-44, 760 P.2d 1245, 1255-56 (1988) (quoting Summit) (internal citation omitted).

The district court did not abuse its discretion in limiting Appellant's questions to his victim about her past sexual conduct for several reasons. First, the district court allowed Appellant to ask a question getting to the heart of the point he was trying to make on cross-examination. AOB 73-74. Additionally, the jury asked a question of Appellant's victim that enabled her to answer about how she liked the attention Appellant was giving her. AOB 76. AA Vol. V 1148. Second, consent was never an issue in this case, as the charges were based on Appellant's status at

the time he committed the crimes charged. As such, any questions regarding Appellant's victim's previous sexual history would have been irrelevant to the crime charged. Finally, Appellant has a narrow and misguided focus on the nature of enticement and seems to insinuate that because a 17 year-old had sex before that she could not be susceptible to an authority figure's persuasion. AOB 76-77. Any questions about Appellant's victim's prior sexual conduct would have been irrelevant and would have only served to harass or humiliate the witness. As such, the district court appropriately limited the scope of cross-examination with respect to Appellant's victims past sexual history.

Finally, Appellant claims that the State benefitted from the district court's ruling by improperly arguing that Appellant enticed his victim. Appellant's claim is misguided and mischaracterizes the State's argument. The State's use of the phrase "sexual inexperience" did not imply that Appellant's victim was inexperienced as compared to a normal 17 year-old. Appellant fails to recognize that as a 32 year-old man he was dealing with a sexually inexperienced individual, in comparison, because he was having a sexual relationship with a teenager. It cannot be said to be improper argument to call a 17 year-old inexperienced in comparison to a 32 year-

old, especially in the context of sexual experience.⁸ As a result, Appellant's claim must be denied.

IX.

THE STATE'S WITNES GAVE APPROPRIATE TESTIMONY

District courts have considerable discretion with regard to determining the admissibility of evidence. <u>Castillo v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 271, 277 (1998) (citing <u>Atkins</u> <u>v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 1122, 1127 (1996)). In particular, a trial court has a large amount of discretion "regarding the admissibility and competency of opinion testimony, either expert or non-expert[.]" <u>Watson v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 261, 264 (1978) (citing <u>State v. Crook</u>, 565 P.2d 576 (Idaho 1977)).

Since defense counsel failed to object to this testimony at trial, this claim may only be reviewed for plain error. "Plain errors or defects affecting substantial rights may be noticed although they were not brought to the attention of the court." NRS 178.602. The similarly worded federal rule has been interpreted to mean that an appellate court may, in its discretion, correct an error not raised at trial only where the appellant demonstrates that (1) there is an "error;" (2) the error is "clear or obvious, rather than subject to reasonable dispute;" (3) the error "affected the appellant's substantial rights, which in the ordinary case means" it "affected the

⁸ If Appellant's argument is taken to mean that his victim was promiscuous and that somehow her level of promiscuity implies that she could not be enticed by him, then the protections of NRS 50.090 and 48.069 he claims are inapplicable would be more entirely applicable as those statutes were put in place to protect from exactly this sort of argument.

outcome of the district court proceedings;" and (4) "the error seriously affect[s] the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings." <u>United States v.</u> <u>Marcus</u>, No. 08-1341 (S.Ct. May 24, 2010) (2010 WL 2025203); <u>Puckett v. United</u> <u>States</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 129 S.Ct. 1423, 1428 (2009).

The United States Supreme Court has explained that the plain error doctrine is limited and "authorizes the Courts of Appeals to correct only 'particularly egregious errors...that seriously affect the fairness, integrity or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." <u>United States v. Young</u>, 470 U.S. 1, 15 (1985) (quoting <u>United States v. Frady</u>, 456 U.S. 152, 163 (1982)). The Court held that the plain error rule is to be used "sparingly" and only when there has been a fundamental error so basic and prejudicial that justice could not have been done, or when the error deprives the accused of a fundamental right. <u>Young</u>, 470 U.S. at 15.

Nevada precedent has similarly applied these same criteria. <u>See Green v.</u> <u>State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003); <u>Rowland v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 31, 38, 39 P.3d 114, 118 (2002). To show that an error affected his substantial rights, an appellant must demonstrate "actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Green</u>, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95. This has also been explained as "a prejudicial impact on the verdict when viewed in context of the trial as a whole." <u>Rowland</u>, 118 Nev. at 38.

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